
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Central Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 
  

  
please ask for Mel Peaston, Interim Committee Services Manager 

direct line 0300 300 4050 
date 23 March 2010  

 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

MEETING  
 

 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 1 April 2010 

Time: 10.00 a.m. 

Venue: Room 14A Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford 

Members Cllrs Mrs C F Chapman MBE 
D Jones 
M Jones 

Cllrs D Lawrence 
S F Male 
A J Shadbolt 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 
1. GUIDANCE FOR THE MANAGEMENTS OF EVENTS AND 

MEDIA RELATIONS. 
 

  
To receive the report of the Assistant Director, 
Communications 
 

 

2. NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
  

To receive the notes of the last meeting held on 15 
February 2010. 
 

 

3. OUTSIDE BODIES  
  

To consider the report of the Assistant Director, Legal and 
Democratic 
 

 



4. REVIEW OF POLICY FRAMEWORK  
  

To consider the report of the Head of Policy/Head of 
Democratic Services. 
 
 

 

5. PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING AT 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 

  
To consider the report of the Assistant Director, 
Development Management 
 
 

 

6. VARIATIONS TO THE CONSTITUTION  
  

To consider the report of the Head of Democratic Services. 
 

 

7. VARIATIONS TO THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

 

  
To consider the report of  the Head of Democratic Services 
 

 

8. PUBLISHING OF THE CONSTITUTION ON THE 
WEBSITE 

 

  
This item was requested by Cllr Male. 
 

 

9. WORK PROGRAMME  
  

To consider the draft work programme for the Advisory 
Group. 
 

 

10. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
  

To agree dates for future meetings of the Advisory Group.  
 

 

 



22/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1st April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Guidance for the Management of Events and 
Media Relations   

REPORT OF Assistant Director (Communications)   

 

PURPOSE 
To suggest that corporate guidance be considered in order to support 
appropriate and consistent management of publicity events and 
activities of Central Bedfordshire Council. 

 

ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL 

The draft guidance was prepared by the Assistant Director 
(Communications) following a number of incidents and enquiries that 
demonstrated that there was confusion about appropriate publicity 
protocols.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
(1) That the substance of the draft guidance note be considered by the 

Constitution Advisory Group. 
 

(2) That the Constitution Advisory Group considers whether this guidance 
should form part of the Council’s constitution or be circulated as less 
formal advice to officers and Members. 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
1. The Council is involved in the organisation of many formal events, the vast 

majority of which should involve Elected Members. 

Agenda Item 1
Page 3



22/03/10 

 

2. Members have a variety of roles and responsibilities within the Council and 
consequently within formal events that the authority organises. 

3. In order to ensure that all Member roles are recognised and that Councillors 
can therefore be appropriately engaged in events and publicity activities, the 
attached guidance note has been developed. 

4. The document is drawn from existing constitutions of other authorities in the 
Eastern region. 

5. It addresses the issues of Member engagement and invitations in civic, 
ceremonial and official events. 

6. It also reflects an informal protocol relating to the representation of Members in 
news releases of the Council. 

 

 
Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Georgina Stanton 
Assistant Director (Communications) 
01462 611438 
Georgina.stanton@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
 

  

 

Agenda Item 1
Page 4



Central Bedfordshire Council 
Guidance for the Management of Events and Media Relations 
 
Events: Ceremonial, Civic and Official  
 
1. The Leader or Deputy Leader of the Council lead for the authority at official 
events which have significant implications for the council or the locality.  The 
Leader may allocate responsibility to another Member.  
 
2. It would be appropriate for the Chairman of the Council to lead council civic 
events which are not specifically associated with a particular service, and to 
represent the council by invitation at ceremonial and civic events of other 
organisations which are not specifically associated with a particular service. If the 
Chairman of the Council is not available, it would be appropriate for the Vice-
Chairman of the Council to deputise. 
 
3. Executive Members are the appropriate candidates for official events solely 
within the scope of their area of responsibility. If it is a council event, the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman should also be invited. When the Executive 
Member is unavailable they may nominate another Member.  
 
4. Local Members should always be informed of, and where possible, be invited 
to official events taking place within their own wards.  
 
5.  Members taking part in ceremonial, civic or official events must not seek 
disproportionate personal publicity or use the occasions for party political 
advantage.  
 
6.  There may be events when celebrities are invited to draw press and public 
attention. Appropriate elected Members, however, should also be invited 
depending on whether the event is ceremonial, civic or official..  
 
7.  Chief or senior officers may lead events if no relevant Member is available.  
 
8. For Royal visits, the Lord Lieutenant determines the invitees depending on the 
location. This will include the appropriate persons from local authorities, venues, 
and organisations etc.  
 
Invitations will only be issued to persons associated with Central 
Bedfordshire Council if the visit is in our geographical area.  
 
Members of the Royal family sometimes make unofficial private visits which do 
not involve invitations to representatives of local authorities. 
 
 
Definitions 
 
A civic event is one which forms part of the Council and Chairman’s civic year, 
eg Civic Service, Chairman’s Reception etc 
 
A ceremonial event is one which involves wider community leaders such as the 
Royal Family, Lord Lieutenant or High Sheriff 

Agenda Item 1
Page 5



 
An official event is one arranged by Central Bedfordshire Council in relation to 
the services it provides, eg opening of a new bridge, school, visit to a library or 
other setting 
 
News Releases  
 
1. The purpose of council communications is to increase public awareness of the 
council’s services and functions, to explain to the public and stakeholders 
reasons for policies and priorities, to improve local accountability and to gather 
public views on services, policies and priorities.  
 
2. Council news releases must not be designed to affect support for a political 
party. 
  
3.  Subject to this, news releases which relate to Executive decision making may 
contain quotes from the Leader or Deputy Leader of the Council or the relevant 
Executive Member.   
 
4.  The Chairman of the Council may be quoted in releases relating to ceremonial 
events which they are leading.  
 
5.  Officers of the council, stakeholder organisations and service users may also 
be quoted in council press releases where their contributions add to the 
relevance and interest of the story.  
 
6  News releases may also be used as a means of communicating information 
into the public domain eg the advertising of dates for Members’ surgeries. 
 
7.  More detailed guidance on the media relations protocol and practice in Central 
Bedfordshire has been developed in the Communications Service (Copies 
available from the Assistant Director – Communications).  
 

Agenda Item 1
Page 6



CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

At a meeting of the CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP held at Room 13, Priory 
House, Monks Walk, Shefford on Monday, 15 February 2010 

 
PRESENT 

 
Cllr S F Male (Chairman) 
Cllr  (Vice-Chairman) 

 
 

Cllrs Mrs C F Chapman MBE 
D Jones 
 

Cllrs M R Jones 
D J Lawrence 
 

 
Apologies for Absence: Cllrs A Shadbolt 

 
 
 

Officers in Attendance Mr R Ellis – Director of Customer and 
Shared Services 

 Mrs K John – Democratic Services 
Manager  

 Ms M Peaston – Interim Committee Services 
Manager 

   
CAG/09/46   Notes of Previous Meeting  

 
The notes of the last meeting held on 25 January 2010 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
CAG/09/47   Review of the Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements  

 
The Constitution Advisory Group at its meeting on 15 February 2010 received a 
report setting out proposals to revise the Overview and Scrutiny arrangements. 
It was noted that the Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordination Panel (consisting of 
the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the five current Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) at its meeting on 3 February 2010 had reviewed a number of 
options for revising the structures and working practices of the Overview and 
Scrutiny function and the scope for streamlining other Council arrangements 
generally.  
 
A firm set of proposals had emerged from this meeting which were now before 
the Constitution Advisory Group for consideration. 
 
A discussion ensued regarding the appropriate means of reflecting changes to 
the Constitution arising from the Senior Management Review. A view was 
expressed that it was not appropriate for the structure diagram to be in the 
Constitution and that the website should include information of this kind in an 
accessible place for members of the public to view easily. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 2
Page 7



DCW -  15.02.10 
Page 2  

 

 

Members discussed at length the proposals set out in the report for the 
Overview and Scrutiny structure. The conclusion was reached that the 
proposals in the report were appropriate and that the terms of reference for the 
newly-merged fourth committee would be an amalgamation of the terms of 
reference from the currently existing Corporate Resources and Business 
Transformation Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The suggestion of “Central 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee” as an appropriate name for the 
new committee was well-received. 
 
The Group also considered the need to have a work programme in place to 
plan looking at the operational efficiency of the Council and amend the 
Constitution where necessary . A suggestion was made that an exercise to 
review the need for the non-statutory Committees of the Council could be 
valuable. Members welcomed this proposal. 
 
AGREED 
 

that a Work programme be drawn up for the Constitution Advisory Group, 
including an item for the consideration of the role of non-statutory 
committees of the Council and whether they were needed, to take place in 
the spring/summer 2010. 
 

AGREED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL 
 

1. to amend the Overview and Scrutiny structure to provide for four 
committees which mirror the Council’s organisational structure 
with effect from the Council’s annual meeting on 18 April 2010; 

 
2. as a consequence of recommendation 1 above, to dissolve the 

Business Transformation and Corporate Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and establish a Central Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee with terms of reference which are an 
amalgamation of the previous two committees; 

 
3. to authorise the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 

Constitution Advisory Group to make the necessary consequential 
arrangements to the Constitution arising from recommendations 1 
and 2 above; 

 
4. that the Organisational Structure diagram should be removed from 

the Constitution and kept up to date on the Council’s website and 
in the Councillors’ Guide. 

 
CAG/09/48   Scheme of Delegation to Officers  

 
The Advisory Group considered points which had been raised by Members in 
relation to the Constitution. 
 
Regarding delegation 4.6.31 “to settle on appropriate terms any litigation or 
claim made by or against the Council” the Group noted that there was currently 
no upper financial limit to the officer’s delegation to carry this out. Members 
considered that this was too open and that thresholds should be put in place. 

Agenda Item 2
Page 8



DCW -  15.02.10 
Page 3  

 

 

 
The Group noted a new delegation approved by the Leader of the Council to 
the Portfolio Holder for Sustainable Development. 
 
The Group considered that there was no need for delegations made by the 
Leader of the Council to be reported to the Constitution Advisory Group and 
Council provided all Members were notified of them. 
 
The Group was invited to consider whether it wished to conduct a review of the 
scheme of delegation to officers, with a  view to producing a more streamlined 
scheme. It was proposed that officers conduct a review of the scheme of 
delegation of the unitary authorities within the Council’s  CIPFA comparator 
group. The need for inclusion of the detailed scheme within the Constitution 
should also be reviewed. 
 
AGREED 
 

that a review of the schemes of delegation to officers of the unitary 
authorities within the Council’s CIPFA comparator group be undertaken 
and reported back to the Constitution Advisory Group.  

 
AGREED TO RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL:- 
 

1. that the following upper financial limit should be imposed on 
the delegation set out at Section H3 paragraph 4.6.31, namely, 
“to settle on appropriate terms any litigation or claim made by 
or against the Council”, as follows:- 

 
Financial Threshold Approval by 

 
Up to £200,000 (ie Key 
Decision threshold) 

Assistant Director Legal and 
Democratic 
 

£200,000 - £500,000 (in 
line with the new 
delegations to individual 
Portfolio Holders) 

Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources, in consultation with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder and 
Assistant Director Legal and 
Democratic 
 

£500,000 and above Leader of the Council, in 
consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate Resources, 
relevant Portfolio Holder and 
Assistant Director Legal and 
Democratic 
 

(Note: Delegations to individual Portfolio Holders are subject 
to approval by the Leader of the Council.) 
 

 

Agenda Item 2
Page 9



DCW -  15.02.10 
Page 4  

 

 

2.  that the Constitution be amended to provide that the delegations 
agreed by the Leader of the Council do not need to be reported to 
Executive or Council as they would be advised to all Members as 
and when they occurred. 

 
  
 

Agenda Item 2
Page 10



19/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1 April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Outside Bodies Policy 
 3 

REPORT OF Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic   

 

PURPOSE To inform the Advisory Group of the approval of the Outside Bodies 
Policy by the General Purposes Committee. 

 

ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL 

On 25 August 2009, the Advisory Group considered an advice note 
providing general guidance in relation to Members’ role on outside 
bodies.  Members requested that a formal policy be drawn up.  This 
was considered by the Group on 25 January 2010 and subsequently 
approved by the General Purposes Committee at its meeting held on 
10 February 2010.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
That the Policy on Outside Bodies be circulated to all Members for inclusion 
in the Councillors’ Guide. 
 
 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
1. The Advisory Group at its meeting held on 25 January 2010 endorsed the 

Policy on Outside Bodies subject to:  
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 11



19/03/10 

 

 (a) Recognition being given within the policy  to those bodies which, whilst 
not part of the Council’s formal governance structure, are in effect 
informal Council-initiated consultative or liaison forums (eg leisure centre 
joint consultative groups) and which do not therefore strictly  fall within 
the  definition of the category “outside bodies” set out in paragraph 1 of 
the policy”; 
 

 (b) Review of the list of outside bodies to ensure that it is correct; 
 

 (c) A requirement for outside bodies to provide all the necessary information 
including indemnity arrangements, before agreement is given to the 
appointment of a Council representative. 
 

2. The General Purposes Committee, at its meeting held on 10 February 2010, 
endorsed the Outside Bodies Policy with the further amendments proposed by 
this Group.  The Committee also requested that all Members who have been 
appointed to an outside body be asked to report in 6 months time on the value 
or not of the Council continuing to appoint Members after May 2011 on the 
basis of the criteria set out in paragraph 3 of  the policy. 
 

3. A copy of the revised policy is attached at Appendix A. 
 

4. Members will also be aware that a seminar in relation to outside bodies, 
presented by Peter Keith-Lucas, of Bevan Brittain, was held on 3 March  2010. 
 

5. In accordance with the Group’s previous decision, it is now proposed that the 
Outside Body Policy should be circulated for inclusion in the Councillors’ 
Guide. 
 

 

 
Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Barbara Morris  None 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 12



 1

 
Appendix A 

 
 
 
 
 

CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

DRAFT POLICY ON MEMBER APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE 
BODIES 

 
 

Definition of an Outside Body 
 
1. For our purposes an outside body can be loosely defined as either 

a corporate or an unincorporated body which is not part of the 
Council’s own governance structure but whose work helps in some 
way towards fulfilling the Council’s own responsibilities and/or 
improving community life in Central Bedfordshire.  
 

2. The term can embrace a diverse range of organisational purposes 
and structures and is in effect a “label of convenience” rather than 
an exact description. We have categorised outside bodies as 
either strategic, ward-based or general in nature.  
 

Criteria for Appointing Members 
 
3. Member appointments to outside bodies should only be made if 

there are clear benefits from this arrangement for either the 
Council or local communities, with reference to the descriptions 
below. 
 

 Strategic Bodies: 
 

 3.1 a body whose functions make a substantial contribution to 
the achievement of the Council's overall aims and 
objectives, as set out in its approved policies, plans and 
strategies, and to the delivery of essential local services; 
 

 3.2 an organisation which directly or indirectly represents local 
government (or aspects of its work) at local, regional or 
national level and whose membership comprises 
representatives of some or all local authorities; 
 

 3.3 an organisation to which the Council is required by statute 
to make appointments and where not doing so would affect 
the Council’s ability to properly discharge its functions and 
obligations; 
 

 Ward-Based Bodies: 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 13



 2

 3.4 a local organisation or group, falling within one or more 
ward boundaries, which seeks the Council’s assistance in 
meeting local needs; 
 

 General Bodies: 
 

 3.5 a voluntary/community organisation which receives funding 
from the Council and Member representation will provide a 
valuable mechanism for the exchange of information and 
views; 
 

 3.6 
 

an organisation or discussion/liaison group where Council 
representation will in some other way provide clear ‘added 
value’ to either the Council or local communities in Central 
Bedfordshire. 
 

4. Any outside body seeking Council representation will be required 
to provide all necessary information requested by the Council, 
including details of indemnity cover provided, prior to any such 
appointment being made.  As a matter of principle, Council 
appointments will not be made, other than as non-voting 
observers:- 
 

 (a) To companies or charities which have not provided their own 
insurance-backed indemnity cover to Council appointees; 
and 
 

 (b) To any unincorporated association where there is a 
significant risk of personal liability. 
 

   
The Capacity in which Members Serve On Outside Bodies 
 
5. The capacity in which Members serve on outside bodies will 

mainly depend on:  
 

 5.1 what legal form each organisation takes, and in particular 
whether it is incorporated as a separate legal entity or not;  
 

 5.2 whether the appointment is to the main body or to a 
particular committee or sub-committee; 
 

 5.3 whether the Member is acting as a voting or non-voting 
member. 
 

6. Depending on the terms of the appointment, Members may serve 
as either: 
 

 6.1 a board, executive or management committee member 
(voting); 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 14



 3

 6.2 a committee or sub-committee member (voting); 
 

 6.3 an ordinary member (voting only at the AGM); 
 

 6.4 a company director (voting); 
 

 6.5 a charity trustee (voting);  
 

 6.6 an observer (non-voting); or 
 

 6.7 a member of a discussion or liaison forum (where voting 
may not apply). 
 

7. In relation to 6.6, an observer is a person who is not a member of 
the body but is invited to attend in order to give the body the 
benefit of the Council’s views and to keep the Council informed of 
the body’s actions. 
 

8. The capacity in which the member serves, along with the 
organisation’s duties and accountabilities under the law, as well as 
to any parent body or regulator, will determine the extent of their 
responsibilities and liabilities. 
 

Members’ Responsibilities and Potential Liabilities 
 
9. The type of organisation to which the Council make appointments 

is so diverse that it is virtually impossible to give comprehensive 
guidance that covers every situation. The circumstances will vary 
widely from one organisation to another, but for convenience they 
have been divided below between corporate and non-corporate 
bodies.  
 

 Corporate Bodies 
 

 9.1 A corporate body has its own legal personality and is 
responsible for its own governance arrangements, finances 
and contractual responsibilities. The body itself will incur 
direct liability for its actions or inactions. Individual members 
who are acting within any mandate  given to them by that 
body will usually  be protected by limited liability if it 
becomes insolvent (except in the case of wrongful or 
fraudulent trading).  
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 15



 4

 9.2 A Member appointed to a corporate body must when 
attending meetings of the body act in that body’s best 
interests, which may not necessarily be the same as the 
Council’s. Members may of course bring to bear their own 
experience and knowledge as a councillor, and may have 
regard to the Council’s interests, but have a duty to exercise 
independent judgement when making decisions. Members 
should not claim to act or give the impression that they are 
acting under a Council mandate. 
 

 9.3 In the event of a clear conflict of interests the Member 
should consider whether it is (a) minor or occasional 
enough that it can be dealt with by declaring an interest and 
withdrawing from either the organisation’s meeting or the 
Council’s meeting, or (b) so frequent or significant that it 
prevents the Member from effectively fulfilling their 
responsibilities towards the outside body, in which case 
resignation from the body may need to be considered. 
Conflicts of interest are likely to be more acute for Executive 
Members, particularly where the financial position of the 
outside body is under consideration and the body depends 
on Council financial support (see the Monitoring Officer’s 
guidance note at Appendix 1). 
 

 9.4 Corporate bodies include statutory or chartered 
corporations (including local authorities, non-departmental 
public bodies, NHS trusts, colleges and community, 
foundation or voluntary schools); companies limited by 
shares; companies limited by guarantee (not-for-profit, 
including incorporated charities where liability is normally 
limited to a nominal £1); industrial and provident societies 
(not-for-profit, including most housing associations); and 
limited liability partnerships. In many cases the body will 
have accountability requirements to a regulator such as the 
District Auditor, another inspectorate or government 
department, or Companies House. 
 

  Registered Companies 
 9.5 A Member appointed to a registered company may, 

depending on the approach taken by that organisation, be 
expected to become a signed-up company director rather 
than an observer. If appointed as a company director, the 
Member will be acting on behalf of the body itself, not as a 
‘representative’ of the local authority, even though the 
Council may have appointed them. Company directors must 
have their appointment filed with Companies House and 
must abide by the company’s own Memorandum and 
Articles of Association. Under the Companies Act 2006 a 
company director has duties: 
 

  (a) to act within the company’s powers; 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 16



 5

  (b) to promote the success of the company; 
 

  (c) to exercise independent judgement; 
 

  (d) to exercise reasonable care, skill and 
diligence; 
 

  (e) to avoid conflicts of interest; 
 

  (f) not to accept benefits from third parties; 
and 
 

  (g) to declare any interests in a proposed 
transaction or arrangement entered into 
by the company. 
 

 9.6 It should also be borne in mind that an observer, even 
though not formally a director, can in some circumstances 
assume the status of a ‘shadow director’ if they are 
especially influential in the company’s decision-making 
process. 
 

 9.7 Examples of corporate bodies to which this Council has 
made appointments would be school governing bodies, 
hospitals’ councils of governors, housing associations, 
Citizens Advice Bureaux and a number of other third sector 
organisations which are fulfilling social objectives in the 
Central Bedfordshire area (where listed as a company 
limited by guarantee or an industrial and provident society 
in Appendix B). There may be different levels of 
responsibility and accountability for ordinary members and 
management or executive committee members. The 
Council has made no voting appointments to companies 
limited by shares or limited liability partnerships but has 
appointed a non-voting observer to the Board of NIRAH, a 
private limited company. 
 

  Statutory Bodies 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 17



 6

 9.8 In some cases a Member will be acting as the Council’s 
representative on a board, committee or body that is 
exercising specific statutory functions which are distinct 
from the Council’s own functions, where Council 
membership is required by law. These would include a 
police or fire authority, regional flood defence committee, 
internal drainage board, joint access forum or conservation 
board; also EERA, as the regional chamber and planning 
authority. While each body will have its own purpose and 
constitutional arrangements, in general an appointed 
Member can be expected to play their part in supporting the 
body’s work, but taking particular account of the need to 
safeguard the Council’s best interests and those of its 
communities. There may be some potential for conflicts of 
interest where there is a financial relationship such as a levy 
or precept between the body and the Council.  
 

 Non-corporate Bodies 
 

 9.9 A non-corporate body has no separate legal personality and 
is in effect a collection of individuals who will usually be 
acting together under a formal structure such as a 
constitution, rules or terms of reference that have been 
agreed between the members.  
 

  Advisory, Consultative or Liaison Bodies 
 

 9.10 In many cases Members will be appointed to an advisory, 
consultative or liaison body of some kind. It could take the 
form of a joint committee, partnership arrangement or 
discussion forum between the local authority and one or 
more other public and/or private or third sector bodies. 
Again, the Member appointed will be acting as the Council’s 
representative and contributing to that body’s purposes 
while taking account of the best interests of Central 
Bedfordshire and its residents.  
 

 9.11 Examples would include local government forums such as 
the LGA and County Councils Network; key partnerships 
such as the LSP, the Community Safety Partnership and 
the BDAT Partnership Board. The potential for incurring 
liabilities or conflicts of interest as a result of membership is 
likely to be minimal. 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 18



 7

 9.12 In other cases the ‘body’ will be more of an informal 
discussion group, acting as a forum for the exchange of 
views and information and inter-agency consultation, often 
on quite local issues. Council appointments have been 
made to several quarry, waste and transport liaison groups, 
the cycling forum, and town centre partnerships or working 
groups. With no decision-making powers, the scope for 
liabilities or conflicts or interest arising should again be 
minimal unless perhaps if a planning consent were 
involved. 
 

 9.13 Some bodies whilst not part of the Council’s formal 
governance structure, are in effect informal Council-initiated 
consultative or liaison forums (eg: certain leisure centre joint 
consultative forums or town centre partnerships, where the 
Council is the lead partner) and may not appropriately  fall 
within the  definition of “outside body” as referred to above.  
 

  Registered Charities  
 

 9.14 Charities and charitable trusts can be conveniently sub-
divided into: 
 

  (a) endowed grant-making trusts where the trustees’ 
duties are primarily to protect the trust’s assets and 
ensure the charity is well-managed in accordance 
with its stated purposes (including disbursal of its 
funds, for instance as small educational or welfare 
grants); several of these are currently listed in our 
schedule of outside bodies; and 
 

  (b) voluntary organisations and community associations 
that exist to provide some kind of local service, which 
can present more risks particularly if they have 
charge of annual budgets and/or financial reserves, 
or contractual obligations towards staff, property or 
suppliers; for this reason most of those voluntary or 
community groups to which the Council has made 
appointments have already incorporated themselves 
as companies limited by guarantee, a form which 
presents less risk to individual members.  
 

 9.15 Where the organisation is a registered charity there will also 
be specific accountability requirements towards the Charity 
Commission which include always to act in accordance with 
the charity’s stated purposes (set out in its charity 
registration and constitution or trust deed) and to submit an 
annual report and accounts.  
 

  Other Unincorporated Associations 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 19



 8

 9.16 An unincorporated association, having no separate legal 
existence, is no more than a group of individuals who agree 
to pursue a common purpose. Members may be asked to 
make a financial contribution, for example in the form of a 
subscription, and to sign a membership agreement which 
can include an agreement to contribute to liabilities incurred 
by other members. When a member acts on behalf of the 
unincorporated association, for example in buying 
equipment to be used by the association, he/she incurs a 
personal liability for the cost of that equipment and then 
seeks to recover that expenditure from the funds of the 
association or from the other members of the association. In 
particular cases, the association may be regarded in law as 
a partnership in which case each member may be 
personally liable for any debts incurred by any member of 
the association.  
 

 9.17 Because of this potential liability the Council should avoid 
appointing voting members to unincorporated associations 
such as local community associations or sports clubs where 
there is a significant risk of personal liability. 
 

 9.18 In general, Members who are appointed to charities, 
community associations or other third sector bodies 
(whether incorporated or not) should: 
 

  (a) understand clearly the organisation’s purposes and 
main objectives and their own role in the organisation; 
 

  (b)  attend meetings regularly and take an active, 
informed and supportive role in the body’s affairs; 
 

  (c) take care always to act in the best interests of the 
organisation and in accordance with its rules or 
governing document, while contributing their 
knowledge and experience as a councillor; 
 

  (d)  satisfy themselves that the organisation has 
transparent governance arrangements, regular 
reports on its activities and sound financial 
management, with accounts regularly monitored; and 
that annual reports and accounts are submitted in 
timely fashion; 
 

  (e) seek to protect the body’s assets and manage its 
affairs prudently; 
 

  (e) be aware of the main risks the body faces (including 
funding risks) and the steps to be taken to deal with 
them; 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 20



 9

  (f) ensure it maintains its membership, so that the work 
of running the organisation and any financial 
obligations continue to be shared by a reasonable 
number of people; 
 

  (g) behave ethically in accordance with the organisation’s 
own code of conduct, if they have one, or otherwise 
the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 

  (h) not gain or seek to gain from their appointment any 
benefit or remuneration (beyond any travel or other 
allowances formally approved by the body); 
 

  (i) ensure the organisation has appropriate health and 
safety and equal opportunities policies and adequate 
insurance arrangements;  
 

  (j) seek to safeguard the Council’s interests on those 
bodies which are funded by or through the Council, to 
the extent that this does not conflict with their duties 
towards the organisation; and 
 

  (k)  seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or other 
relevant Council officer if they have concerns about 
the running of the body. 
 

Indemnity and Insurance Cover  
 
10. The Council’s Indemnity for Members and Officers (at Part 6 of the 

Ethical Handbook at the back of the Constitution) provides cover in 
connection with any liability the member may incur by reason of 
any action, or failure to act, which has been authorised by the 
Council or which forms part of, or arises from, any duties or 
functions placed upon the Member. This includes functions arising 
from the Member’s service on an outside body, where the Member 
has been officially appointed by the Council and the outside body 
itself does not provide its own cover. Insurance cover is only 
provided, however, when either the Member is sitting on the 
outside body purely to represent the Council, or the body on which 
the Member sits is acting only in the interests of the Council.  
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 21



 10

11. 
 

This means that the Council’s insurance-backed indemnity would 
extend to membership of statutory bodies, where the Member 
would be acting as the Council’s representative (in situations 
where the body did not provide its own cover); to membership of 
the many advisory, consultative or liaison bodies of  which the 
Council is a member; and to situations where the Council’s 
representative was appointed purely as a non-voting observer on 
a company or other incorporated body. Insurance cover would not 
be provided, however, where the Member was appointed by the 
Council to serve as either a company director or a charity trustee, 
where their primary obligations would be to that body rather than 
to the Council. In this situation the outside body should be 
expected to provide its own indemnity, to avoid any potential 
liability falling back upon the Council.  
 

12. 
 

The Schedule of Outside Body Appointments shows where 
appointments are understood to be covered by the Council’s own 
indemnity and where they are covered by the company or charity 
concerned. As a matter of principle, Council appointments should 
not be made, other than as non-voting observers, to companies or 
charities which have not provided their own insurance-backed 
indemnities to appointed Members, nor to any unincorporated 
association where there is a significant risk of personal liability.  
 

13. To avoid any potential liability, non-voting observers sitting on 
registered companies should take care not to exercise undue 
influence over the decisions of those companies. 
 

14. 
 

In no circumstances will the Council’s indemnity/insurance cover 
Members who are serving on an outside body in a personal 
capacity, i.e. at their own choice rather than by formal Council 
appointment.  
 

Conflicts of Interests 
 
15. As indicated earlier, Members appointed by the Council to an 

outside body will, when sitting on that body, often have duties to 
the organisation which take precedence over their duties to the 
Council. This will depend on the type of organisation on which they 
serve. Members will therefore wish to consider, at any time when it 
appears that the organisation’s interests may conflict with the 
Council’s interests, whether that conflict prevents them from taking 
part in decision-making either at the organisation’s meeting or at 
the Council’s meeting.   
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 22



 11

16. Under the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members a personal 
interest always arises from membership of an outside body “of 
which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management”, including one to which a Member has been 
appointed or nominated by the Council. This interest needs to be 
recorded in the Register of Members’ Interests and declared at 
any meeting where the business relates to or is likely to affect that 
body, although it does not impede full participation in the Council’s 
meeting. 
 

17. A personal and prejudicial interest will arise “where the interest is 
one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant 
facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice your judgement of the public interest”, but only where the 
business at hand either: 
 

 (a) affects the financial position of the outside body; or 
 

 (b) relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, 
permission or registration in relation to that body. 
 

18. Where a personal and prejudicial interest does arise at a Council 
meeting, the Member must withdraw from the room and take no 
further part in the discussion. The Monitoring Officer’s advice note 
to Executive Members (Appendix 2) elaborates. 
 

19. For the sake of clarity it is unlikely, owing to an exemption in the 
Members’ Code of Conduct regarding the setting of Council Tax, 
that a personal and prejudicial interest will arise solely by reason 
of funding for an outside body being included in the Council’s 
overall annual budget at the time it is submitted in draft form for 
Council approval. An exception to this would be if a specific 
decision is sought about that particular organisation’s funding 
arrangements. 
 

 Bias and Predetermination 
20. Where membership of an outside body gives rise to a personal 

and prejudicial interest, it would be a breach of the Code of 
Conduct for a Member to participate within the Council on matters 
which affect that outside body. However, the common law goes 
further than the Code of Conduct in this respect and provides that 
decisions of the Council may be open to judicial review and held to 
be invalid where any Member who participated in that decision 
was, or gave the appearance that they might be, either 
"predetermined" or "biased".  
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 23



 12

21. "Predetermination" would arise if a Member made up their mind on 
a matter before they had all the relevant information to make that 
decision; it could be a particular problem in respect of outside 
bodies which made representations to the Council on matters such 
planning and licensing applications, where a Member may be 
asked to take a view on a matter in the outside body, and then 
have to take a formal decision on the matter within the Council.  
Members who will be involved in decision-making within the 
Council should therefore be careful not to commit themselves, or 
appear to commit themselves, in advance as to how they will vote 
in the Council. 
 

22. "Bias" would arise if a Member took a decision within the Council 
not on a balanced consideration of material factors, but allowed 
their decision to be improperly influenced by loyalty to an outside 
body, or agreed to act on the direction of an outside body.  
 

23. 
 

For this reason any Member serving on an outside body should be 
particularly careful in dealing with any matter within the Council not 
to give the appearance of predetermination or bias. 
 

Reporting Back on the Work of Outside Bodies 
 
24. Members may wish to report back to their colleagues on the work 

of the outside body to which they are appointed by contributing an 
occasional article to the Members’ Newsletter.  
 

25. 
 

Any such articles should be forwarded to Member Services in 
Legal and Democratic Services. 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 24



Appendix 1 
 
Appointments to Outside Bodies: 
The Councillors’ Roles – General Guidance & Potential  
Pitfalls and Conflicts 
 
As a Central Bedfordshire Councillor you may be nominated by the Council to 
sit on various types of outside bodies. 
 
You need to be aware that this does not necessarily mean that you will be 
representing the Council’s interests on that outside body.  Indeed there are a 
number of cases, for example, if you are a trustee or a company director, 
where you must always act in the interests of the outside body and not in the 
Council’s interests. 
 
This can lead to conflicts of interests between your role as a Councillor and 
your representative role on the outside body. 
 
How are appointments made? 
 
You can only be appointed to an outside body as a Councillor if this is done in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution. Part B6 (page3) Local Choice 
Functions, paragraph 18 of the Constitution requires that initial appointments 
to outside bodies after a new Council is elected are to be made by the full  
Council. Thereafter the Assistant Director Legal and Democratic is authorised, 
in consultation with Group Leaders, to make new appointments, fill vacancies, 
approve variations to existing appointments and delete organisations from the 
approved list.  
 
You must ensure that your appointment has been made in accordance with 
the Constitution and should not purport to act as a Council representative on 
an outside body unless a formal appointment has been made. This guidance 
does not cover any situation where a Member chooses to sit on an outside 
body in their own private capacity (i.e. not as a Councillor). 
 
Set out below are a number of matters that you should take into account if you 
act as a Council representative on one or more outside bodies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 25



 
 
General Advice and Guidance to Members Appointed to Outside Bodies 
 
• Ensure that you know the legal status of the organisation – read the 

constitution, rules, trust deed or Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, etc. -  and understand your responsibilities; 

 
Note: the main types of body to which you may be appointed may be: 
 

- a statutory body – undertaking specific duties conferred by law; 
 
- a registered company – usually a non-profit company limited by 

guarantee; rarely a company limited by shares (profit making); 
 
- a registered charity or industrial and provident society providing 

a voluntary/community service;  
 

- a grant-making trust (normally a registered charity) disbursing 
endowed funds; 

 
- an unincorporated association – often local community groups 

that are neither companies nor charities, and have no separate 
identity from their individual members; 

 
- a consultative or advisory body – which may be a joint forum of  

local authorities or a partnership arrangement with other 
public/private/third sector bodies (national, regional or local); 

 
- a discussion/liaison group with no responsibilities of its own. 

 
• Ensure that if you are represented on the Board of a Company the 

relevant form 288 is filed upon your appointment and resignation; 
 
• Make any general declarations of interest at the first board meeting; 
 
• Ask if there is any insurance or indemnity in place; 
 
• Clarify whether the organisation will pay allowances or expenses; 
 
• Ensure the board or management committee, has regular financial and 

other reports which detail the current financial situation of the 
organisation and any liabilities – take an interest in the business plan; 

 
• Ensure the organisation has sound financial practices and procedures; 
 
• Exercise independent judgement in making decisions; 
 
• Act with integrity; 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 26



• Discuss any new activities with relevant Council officers (you may need 
to provide them with copy papers) and ensure that risks are properly 
identified in reports (consistent with local authority decision making – 
ensure that all relevant information is presented); 

 
• Ask questions and make reasonable enquiries – remember that each 

enquiry has a cost to the organisation to answer; 
 
• Observe duties of confidentiality (in both directions); 
 
• Carefully consider any conflicts of interest, declare interests, and if 

appropriate, leave the room for consideration of the business; 
 
• Question responsibility and accountability; 
 
• Take advice from the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer and 

your lead officer contact as appropriate – not just when the organisation 
is likely to become insolvent, but generally.  Occasionally, that advice 
may be to seek external advice on your position, especially if there is a 
conflict between the organisation and the Council; 

 
• Manage conflict – usually issues can be balanced, but ensure that when 

in meetings of the body you act in the body’s best interests which may 
not necessarily be those of the Council – if all else fails, resign.  Do not 
just remain a director and fail to attend meetings or you may find that you 
are in breach of your duty to act in the best interests of that organisation; 

 
• Finally, question the need for future Council involvement! Does it link in 

some way with the Council’s strategic objectives? Does continued 
Member representation bring clear benefits for either the Council or the 
local community? Has the organisation changed direction from when the 
Council first became involved – what useful purpose would ongoing 
representation serve? 

 
General Duties of a Representative on an Outside Body 
 
As a representative on the Management Committee or on the board of an 
independently constituted outside body, you must act in the interests of that 
body and exercise independent judgement in making decisions, in 
accordance with your duty of care to the body.  You are not there just to vote 
in accordance with the Council’s wishes.  You may have regard to the 
interests of the Council, but this should not be the overriding consideration.  In 
some cases voting in the Council’s interests could be a breach of a Director’s 
duty to a company. 
 
(The only exceptions will be certain consultative/advisory bodies such as 
EERA, the LGA or the LSP, where the representative will normally be 
expected to act in the Council’s interests; each case will need to be 
considered on its merits).    
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 27



The overriding responsibility is to seek to avoid the situation where duty and 
interest conflict. Therefore if you are unsure about declaring an interest, it 
would be wise to declare and leave the meeting during consideration of the 
business. 
 
Particular duties and responsibilities of Directors and Trustees 
 
If you are appointed as a company director then you must act in the best 
interests of the company.  The main duties of a director are:- 
 
• To act honestly and in good faith and in the best interests of the 

company as a whole; 
• A fiduciary duty of the company, not to make a personal profit and to 

take proper care of the assets; 
• To attend board meetings and follow the rules on the declaration of 

interests; 
• To exercise reasonable skill and care (this is a subjective test based 

upon the individual’s own knowledge and experience) and involves due 
diligence in the performance of his/her duties as a director.  In the case 
of adult safeguarding or children’s safeguarding, take advice from the 
relevant Director.  Just as with Council business you should not become 
involved in the detail of individual cases or staff below Executive level;  

• To comply with statutory obligations imposed by the Companies Acts, 
other legislation and any procedural rules set out in the Constitution; and 

• You should not commit Council resources unless you are sure that 
Officers can make them available. 

 
If you are appointed as a trustee of a registered charity then the duties of 
trustees are generally the same as for a director but in addition you must 
make sure the trust acts in accordance with the aims and objectives of the 
trust and you should make sure that you have a clear understanding of what 
these are (there is normally a trust deed which set these out). 
 
 
Declarations of interest and duties of confidentiality – the 
Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
When outside bodies consider issues related to the Council or where you may 
have a personal interest in relation to the body’s activities, these need to be 
declared in line with the rules of the outside body and the Members’ Code of 
Conduct.  The specific rules adopted by each body will vary and therefore you 
should ask for advice and guidance from the secretary of the organisation 
and/or the Monitoring Officer, as appropriate. 
 
If you are appointed to the Management Committee or board of outside 
bodies you must declare this interest in meetings of the Council which 
consider issues related to that body.  You will also need to ensure those 
duties are included on the Register of Interests kept by the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 28



Confidential information must be treated with care and if you have any doubt 
over the status of any information then you should keep that confidential and 
check with the relevant officer, whether or not it is something which is already 
in the public domain or which may be disclosed.  Always seek clarification 
from the outside bodies whether you are permitted to release particular details 
of decisions of that body if you intend to discuss matters with the Council. 
 
The legal position is that someone who has received information in 
confidence is not allowed to take improper advantage of it.  Deliberate leaking 
of confidential information will also be a breach of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Where you act as a representative of the Council on an outside body, you 
must comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct, unless that body is another 
relevant authority which has its own Code; or unless observance of the Code 
would conflict with any other obligations (e.g. the duty to act in the best 
interests of the outside body). 
 
Under the Council’s Code you must not:- 
 
• Disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone; or 

information acquired which you believe is of a confidential nature, without 
the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless you are required 
by law to do so; 

• Prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 
person is entitled by law. 

 
Disclosing confidential information may also contravene other parts of the 
Code, e.g. it may be regarded as bringing the Member or the Council into 
disrepute; may compromise the impartiality of people who work for the 
Council; may improperly confer or secure an advantage or disadvantage for 
the Member or any other person; and in some cases knowledge may give 
someone a personal interest. 
 
Managing conflicts of interest 
 
In general terms the purposes of the body and what it wants to do often 
coincide with the Council’s interest and so conflicts may be rare.  However, 
there may be difficulty in some circumstances, for example, if the body is not 
complying with the terms and conditions of a funding agreement between the 
Council and the body; or the organisation wishes to appeal against a planning 
decision made by the Council; or where the organisation has wider objects 
than the reason behind the Council’s appointment and wishes to pursue 
activities which would conflict with Council policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 29



You will need to manage the conflicts that will arise appropriately and in 
certain circumstances may feel that your only option is to resign from the 
company or body.  Similarly, if the Council does not feel that a representative 
on an outside body is properly fulfilling their role and responsibilities, e.g. the 
person is not attending meetings or is voting in ways which may be 
inappropriate, then the Council could choose to change its representation on 
the outside body.  Clearly there is a greater scope for conflicts to arise where 
you hold an office in the outside body, e.g. Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary or 
Treasurer, than if you are a general member. 
 
Reporting back to the Council 
 
Many local authorities require that anyone who is appointed to an outside 
body provides information and reports periodically to the Council on what the 
organisation is doing.  Central Bedfordshire Council has not adopted any 
policy on this matter, but you should ensure that the outside body provides 
you with sufficient information to enable you to make this report back if 
requested.  However, you are not required to disclose anything which is 
commercially confidential to the outside body as this may be in breach of:- 
 
• the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
• your duties of confidentiality to the outside body (whether as director, 

trustee or more generally); or 
• confidence in the general sense. 
 
Members’ Allowances 
 
The Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme defines attendance at meetings 
of all outside bodies where the Member is attending as the Council’s duly 
authorised representative (whether appointed for a fixed term or authorised on 
an ad hoc basis) as an approved duty for the purposes of travelling and 
subsistence allowances, subject to no such allowances being claimed by the 
Member from the outside body concerned.  If the body does pay such 
expenses, you may not claim from the Council.  For further information on 
allowances contact the Senior Members’ Support Development Officer. 
 
 
 
Barbara Morris, Monitoring Officer 
August 2009  

Agenda Item 3
Page 30



1 

Appendix 2 
 

Monitoring Officer’s Advice Note to Executive Members 
 

Personal and Prejudicial Interests 
 
I have been asked to bring to the attention of Executive Members the need for 
them to consider the issue of personal and prejudicial interest where they are 
appointed to outside bodies by this Council - in particular when there is a 
report at Executive relating to the outside body and the matter falls within the 
Portfolio the Member is required to cover. 
 
This may not be too problematic if such a conflict is a rare occurrence. It could 
be more difficult however where the Executive Member’s involvement in an 
outside body gives rise to such a frequent requirement for them to withdraw 
from meetings, by reason of having a personal and prejudicial interest, that it 
impacts on their ability to act effectively either within the Council or on the 
outside body. 
 
Members should be aware that under paragraph 10 of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct a personal interest always arises from membership of an outside 
body “of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management”, including one to which you have been appointed or nominated 
by the Council.  While this interest needs to be both registered and declared 
at any meeting where the business relates to or is likely to affect that body, 
this does not in any way impede your full participation in the meeting. 
 
This note is concerned with the circumstances in which a personal and 
prejudicial interest might arise, when under paragraph 14 of the Code you 
would have to withdraw from any council meeting at which relevant business 
within the meaning of paragraph 12 of the Code was being considered. 
Furthermore Members could not exercise executive functions nor seek 
improperly to influence a decision in relation to that business.  This is mainly 
where the financial position of the outside body is under discussion. 
 
In light of the concerns raised, advice has been sought from a specialist Local 
Government Lawyer, Peter Keith-Lucas.  Set out below is an extract of the 
key relevant points contained in his advice. 
 
“In what circumstances would it be difficult for a Cabinet Member to be 
a member of an outside body? 

 
It is important that the Council is seen to be at the centre of its community and 
therefore senior Councillor involvement in outside bodies is important. I would 
certainly not advocate any blanket prohibition on elected members being 
members of outside bodies, but there are clearly some areas which cause 
more difficulties than others. 

 
My advice is that Councillors with an interest in and commitment to a 
particular area of activity should be very cautious about becoming a member 

Agenda Item 3
Page 31



2 

of an outside body where this will mean that they would need to declare a 
prejudicial interest and withdraw from consideration of any related matter 
within the Council, as this means that they are unable to act effectively within 
the Council. For this purpose the danger areas are as follows - 

 
Bodies which rely on Council financial support 

 
The revised definition of “prejudicial interest” requires that the decision of the 
Council either affects the financial position of the outside body or that it 
determines the outside body’s planning or other application. The planning 
application point is of less concern to a Cabinet Member, as he/she can 
always declare and withdraw for particular applications. It is more of a 
problem where the outside body is dependent upon the authority for funding, 
or for the supply of land, and its activities are within the Cabinet Member’s 
Portfolio, as it is then likely that the Cabinet Member will have a prejudicial 
interest (and apparent bias) in decisions on funding and land provision 
whenever they come before him/her as a single Cabinet Member or before 
the full Cabinet.  

 
Note that under the old Code there was an exception where a Councillor was 
appointed to an outside body as a “representative” of the Council, allowing the 
Councillor to treat it merely as a personal interest. Without explanation, that 
exception was removed from the 2007 Code, which does cause problems. 
 
A particular issue arises during the preparation and approval of the Council’s 
Budget. The issue arises if support for outside bodies is likely to come up 
regularly during the Budget preparation, requiring the Cabinet Member to 
withdraw. At the formal Budget Debate in Council, it is arguable that all 
Councillors who are members of outside bodies which stand to receive 
financial support approved (individually or collectively) in the Council Budget 
may have prejudicial interests or apparent bias. The issue will be more 
problematic for Cabinet Members rather than ordinary Councillors, because 
they are appointed by the authority to more outside bodies, and to those 
which are more likely to be directly funded by the authority.  

 
Lobbying Organisations and Pressure Groups in respect of matters for which 
Central Bedfordshire Council is responsible  

 
Where a Cabinet Member is also a member of an outside organisation which 
is campaigning on a particular local issue, it is likely to give rise to at least 
apparent bias on the part of the Cabinet Member whenever a relevant matter 
comes before Cabinet. So it is sensible for a cabinet Member particularly not 
to be a member of a local campaigning organisation. I am less worried about 
national organisations such as RSPB or the Ramblers Association, but a local 
organisation such as “Stop the Bypass” or “Keep the Hospital Open” will 
cause problems. 

 
Directors 

 

Agenda Item 3
Page 32



3 

A particular difficulty arises with being appointed as a director of a company. 
This is because being a paid company director is a specific class of personal 
(and potentially prejudicial) interest, and a company director has specific 
statutory obligations under the Companies Act 2006 to promote the best 
interests of the company and not to allow a conflict of interest to arise. 
 
In practice, it may be possible for the outside body to invite the Councillor to 
attend and to speak, but not to vote, at its Board meetings as an observer. 
Provided that the Board does not subordinate itself to the Councillor, making 
him a “shadow director”, this arrangement allows the Councillor to participate 
in the outside body without creating a personal or prejudicial interest when 
relevant matters are under consideration within the Council. 

 
Trustees 

 
Being a trustee is more of a problem in terms of bias than under the Code of 
Conduct. This is because many trusts are unincorporated, so that there is no 
“body” that is capable of legal identification. Where the trust is incorporated 
(normally as a company limited by guarantee), a prejudicial interest in land 
arises where the Councillor has a “beneficial interest” in the land, but a 
trustee’s interest in the trust land is not “beneficial”. 
 
On the other hand, a trustee is under an obligation to act in the best interests 
of the beneficiaries of the trust, and that is likely to give rise to apparent bias.” 

 
From the above advice it is clear that the most problematic areas are likely to 
be where an outside body depends on the Council either for funding or for 
providing land, where it is campaigning on a particular local issue, or where 
the Member is appointed as a company director or a trustee; and the business 
before the Executive relates to either the body’s finances or the determination 
of any consent or permission. As always, it is not possible to give clear-cut 
advice to Members that will cover all situations, as the nature of any interest 
will depend on the particular circumstances in each case. 
 
It may be helpful just to reiterate that, while I would always advise Members to 
exercise great caution in relation to potential conflicts of interest, there is no 
reason to recommend a blanket prohibition on Executive Members serving on 
outside bodies. In occasional cases of conflict this could be dealt with by 
withdrawing from either the outside body’s meeting or the Executive’s 
meeting.  The key issue is how often a personal and prejudicial interest is 
likely to arise, and whether the frequency is so great that the Member can no 
longer effectively conduct their role either on the Executive, or on the outside 
body to which they have been appointed. 
 
This advice applies equally to Members serving on school governing bodies 
as to other outside bodies. 
 
In light of the above, I would request you review your entry in the Register of 
Interests, which can be found under the ‘Your Councillors’ pages on the 
Council’s website at  

Agenda Item 3
Page 33



4 

 
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/modgov/mgMemberIndex.asp?FN=ALP
HA&VW=LIST&PIC=0 
 
to check that it lists all the outside bodies to which you have been appointed 
or nominated by the authority and let me know please of any omissions, 
inaccuracies or changes that may occur. 
 
Insurance Cover and Indemnity 
 
I have also been asked to establish whether Council Members appointed or 
nominated to outside bodies are covered by the Council’s own indemnity and 
insurance policy for any liabilities they may incur in the course of their duties 
on that body.   
 
The Council’s Indemnity for Members and Officers (at Part 6 of the Ethical 
Handbook at the back of the Constitution) provides cover in connection with 
any action, or failure to act, which has been authorised by the Council or 
which forms part of, or arises from, any duties or functions placed upon the 
Member. This does in theory include functions arising from the Member’s 
service on an outside body, where they have been officially appointed by the 
Council and the outside body itself does not provide its own cover. Enquiries 
of both the Council’s present insurers and our insurance brokers confirm, 
however, that insurance cover can only be provided when either the Member 
is sitting on the outside body purely to represent the Council, or the body on 
which the Member sits is acting only in the interests of the Council.  
 
This means that the Council’s insurance-backed indemnity would extend to 
membership of statutory bodies, where the Member would be acting as the 
Council’s representative (in situations where the body did not provide its own 
cover); to membership of the many advisory, consultative or liaison bodies of  
which the Council is a member; and to situations where the Council’s 
representative was appointed purely as a non-voting observer on a company 
or other incorporated body. Insurance cover would not be provided, however, 
where the Member was appointed by the Council to serve as either a 
company director or a charity trustee, where their primary obligations would 
be to that body rather than to the Council; in this situation the outside body 
should be expected to provide its own indemnity. From a recent survey it 
appears that most already do so; further enquiries are being made where this 
is not the case.  
 
I should stress that in no circumstances will the Council’s indemnity/insurance 
cover Members who are serving on an outside body in a personal capacity, 
i.e. at their own choice rather than by formal Council appointment.  
 
Officers intend to report in more detail to the next meeting of General 
Purposes Committee recommending a review of the Council’s current 
appointments to outside bodies, which will take account of the above position. 
 

Agenda Item 3
Page 34



5 

For school governors, while there is provision in education legislation which 
severely limits their personal liability, most schools in Central Bedfordshire 
purchase insurance cover from the Council which includes combined liability. 
This will provide cover for public liability, employer's liability, libel & slander, 
officials' indemnity and personal accident, subject to an excess of £50 if a 
claim against the governor were to be successful. 
 
Please contact me if you need any additional information on conflicts or 
interest, either generally or in relation to a specific situation, or in relation to 
potential liabilities. 
 
Barbara Morris 
Monitoring Officer 

Agenda Item 3
Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



19/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1 April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Review of the Constitution ‘Policy Framework’ 
 4 

REPORT OF Head of Policy/Head of Democratic Services   

 

PURPOSE To propose an up-to-date and manageable set of policies and 
strategies to be included in Council’s Policy framework. 

 

ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL 

Under the Local Government Act 2000, every Constitution must set a 
‘Key Policy Framework’ comprising those plans and strategies 
required to be approved or adopted at a meeting of the full Council.   
 
There are certain plans and strategies which the Council is required# 
to include, a number recommended by the Secretary of State, and 
others can be added at the Council’s discretion.   
 
The Council’s Budget and Policy Framework was created by the 
Shadow Authority in 2008 at a time when officer/member 
relationships were still being formed and the new Council’s 
democratic and engagement processes were being developed. 
 
As the Council’s current democratic and engagement processes 
allow members an active and meaningful role in strategic policy 
making aligned with a need to ensure we identify unnecessary 
bureaucracy, Corporate Management Team have reviewed the 
published section B2 of the Constitution and propose this now be  
refreshed.   
 
Inclusion within the Policy Framework just means that these plans 

                                            
*# Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000  

Agenda Item 4
Page 37



19/03/10 

 

require full Council approval and the proposals in this report are 
predicated by the acknowledgement that there will still be an 
opportunity for discussion upon other plans, most notably statutory 
plans, which the Council produces at the Executive.  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
(1) That the Policy Framework be limited to those plans and strategies which 

the Council is ‘obliged’ to include within the Framework, together with those 
plans and strategies ‘recommended’ for inclusion in the Framework, subject 
to them already being included in the Council published Policy Framework. 
 

(2) That an amendment be made to the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules to give overview and scrutiny committees the option of 
deciding whether they wish to review plans and strategies in the Policy 
Framework, rather than requiring all such plans and strategies to be 
developed via the overview and scrutiny process, as currently prescribed 
within the Rules. 
 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
1. The Council’s Constitution includes the ‘The Budget and Policy Framework’ at 

section B2 (Appendix A sets out the published list).   
 

2. Inclusion within the Policy Framework just means that these plans require full 
Council approval and our current democratic and engagement processes - 
Overview and Scrutiny, Task Forces, Executive – allow the opportunity for 
member engagement in the development and/or review of the other plans, 
policies and strategies,. 
 

3. Regulations and supporting Government guidance provide that authorities 
MUST include certain plans and strategies within their Policy Frameworks 
whilst other plans are recommended for inclusion.  Authorities are also able to 
include such other plans and strategies as they consider appropriate within 
their Policy Framework.  As the Council has full discretion on the inclusion of 
any additional recommended/ discretionary items, it is proposed that that our 
published list should only includes items where full Council consideration 
would add value to the process.   
 

4. With this in mind and with a view to also reducing bureaucracy, it is suggested 
that the Policy Framework should be limited to the list of plans and strategies 
which the Council is ‘required’ to include within the Framework, together with 
those plans and strategies recommended by the Secretary of State for 
inclusion, provided they are already included in the Council’s published list, as 
follows:   
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4
Page 38



19/03/10 

 

‘Required’ 
• Children and Young People’s Plan 
• Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy (our ‘Community Safety 

Partnership Plans’) 
• Local Transport Plan 
• Plans with Development Plan Document status which together comprise 

the Local Development Framework and the Waste and Minerals 
Development Framework 

• Sustainable Community Strategy 
• Statement of Licensing Policy under Section 5 of the Licensing Act 

2003 
• Licensing Authority Policy Statement under Section 349 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 
 

‘Recommended’ 
• Corporate Strategic Plan 
• Housing Strategy 

 
and the Budget Framework in B2 Section 2 be revised to ensure it embraces 
all the budgetary items currently listed. 
 
The table at Appendix B provides further details. 
 

5. As the published Policy Framework only listed the plans and strategies 
requiring full Council approval, it is also acknowledged that there is a need to 
publish an up-to-date list of all other plans, most notably statutory plans, which 
the Council produces and this is currently being compiled.  Once finalised this 
will be available to all members on the intranet ‘hub’.   
 

6. The Constitution sets out that  
“All plans, strategies and budgets forming part of the budget and policy 
framework will be developed via the overview and scrutiny process.  
However, where in exceptional circumstances, this does not appear 
practicable in respect of a specific plan, strategy or budget, the Leader, 
subject to the written consent of the chairman of the relevant overview 
and scrutiny committee may agree an alternative course of action.” 

 
7. As an exception has already occurred to ‘all items being developed by 

Overview and Scrutiny’ as the Business Transformation Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee advised they did not wish to consider the Climate Change Strategy 
which is currently included prior to its consideration at Executive. 
 

8 In view of this it is also proposed that the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules be amended to give overview and scrutiny committees the 
option of deciding whether they wished to review plans and strategies in the 
Policy Framework, rather than requiring all such plans and strategies to be 
developed via the overview and scrutiny process, as currently prescribed 
within the Rules. 

 

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 39



19/03/10 

 

Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Elaine Malarky, Head of Policy -  
0300 300 5517  
 
Kathrin John, Head of Democratic 
Services - 0300 300 4033 

  

 

Agenda Item 4
Page 40



19/03/10 

 

Central Bedfordshire Council’s Constitution   Appendix A 
 
B2   THE BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK (Update 1: October 2009) 
 
1.  Policy Framework: Definition 
 
1.1  The policy framework means the following plans, policies and strategies and 

such others as may be added by the Council. (Note: all other plans and policies 
shall be the responsibility of the Executive) 
 
1.1.2 Statutory Plans 

1.1.2.1 Children and Young People’s Plan 
1.1.2.2  Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 
1.1.2.3  Local Transport Plan 
1.1.2.4  Plans with Development Plan Document status which together 

comprise the Local Development Framework and the Waste 
and Minerals Development Framework 

1.1.2.5  Sustainable Community Strategy 
1.1.2.6  Statement of Licensing Policy under Section 5 of the Licensing 

Act 2003 
1.1.2.7  Licensing Authority Policy Statement under Section 349 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 
 
1.1.3 Other Plans 
 

1.1.3.1  Revenue and Capital Budget and the Capital Programme 
1.1.3.2 Medium Term Financial Strategy, Annual Treasury 

Management Strategy and Fees and Charges Policy – as part 
of annual budget setting at Full Council. Treasury 
Management Policy Statement (reviewed on a periodic basis) 

1.1.3.3  Corporate Strategic Plan (including Directorate Development 
Plans) 

1.1.3.4  Older People’s Strategy 
1.1.3.5  Cultural Strategy (including the Leisure Strategy) 
1.1.3.6  Housing Strategy / Housing Investment Programme 
1.1.3.7  Sustainability Policy suite (including environmental policy, 

climate change strategy and sustainability strategy) 
1.1.3.8  Customer Service Strategy, Communication Strategy, 

Consultation Strategy and Community Engagement Strategy 
1.1.3.9  Local Area Agreement 
1.1.3.10  Regional Spatial Strategies including the MKSM subregional 

strategy (including Luton and South Bedfordshire growth area 
strategy documents, unless formally delegated by the Council 
to a joint committee) 

1.1.3.11  Equality and Diversity Strategy 
1.1.3.12  Joint Economic Development Strategy for Bedfordshire 

 
1.2  The title of the plans, policies and strategies described above may, from time to 

time, be varied.  Notwithstanding any change in title, these plans, policies and 
strategies will be deemed to be still part of the policy framework until expressly 
removed by the Council. 

Agenda Item 4
Page 41



19/03/10 

 

 
2.  Budget: Definition 
 
2.1  The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services 
and projects, proposed contingency funds, setting the Council Tax, formulating a 
plan or strategy for the control of the Council’s borrowing (including prudential 
indicators), investments or capital expenditure or for determining the authority’s 
minimum revenue provision and the setting of virement limits. (Amendments to either 
the revenue or capital budgets which  are made in accordance with the provisions of 
the Code of Finance Governance and Code of Procurement Governance set out at 
Part I of this constitution shall be deemed to be made within the budget).

Agenda Item 4
Page 42



19/03/10 

 

Appendix B – Plans included within our published Policy Framework 
Plan Required/  

Recommended/ 
Discretionary  

Directorate  Rationale Recommendation  

Children and Young People’s 
Plan 

Required Children’s 
Services  

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework. 

No change - retain 

Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Strategy 

Required Sustainable 
Communities 

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework.  We have an opportunity to update the wording in the 
Constitution to reflect the current title ‘Community Safety Partnership 
Plans’. 

Retain – option to 
change reference  

Local Transport Plan Required Sustainable 
Communities 

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework 

No change - retain 

Plans with Development Plan 
Document status which 
together comprise the Local 
Development Framework and 
the Waste and Minerals 
Development Framework 

Required Sustainable 
Communities 

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework. 
 

No change - retain 

Sustainable Community 
Strategy 

Required Office of the 
Chief Executive 

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework. 

No change - retain 

Statement of Licensing Policy 
under Section 5 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 

Required Sustainable 
Communities 

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework. 
 

No change - retain 

Licensing Authority Policy 
Statement under Section 349 of 
the Gambling Act 2005 

Required Sustainable 
Communities 

There is a statutory requirement to include this in the Council’s Policy 
Framework. 
 

No change - retain 

Revenue and Capital Budget 
and the Capital Programme/ 
Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy and 
Fees and Charges Policy – as 
part of annual budget setting at 
Full Council. Treasury 
Management Policy Statement 
(reviewed on a periodic basis) 

Discretionary Customer and 
Shared Services 

There is duplication as these are also covered in the Budget Section of 
the Constitution (see B2 section 2 paragraph 2.1).  It is proposed that 
the budget description in paragraph 2.1 be revised to ensure it 
embraces these budgetary items. 
 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework  
 
Cover in the Budget 
at 2.1 
 

Corporate Strategic Plan  Recommended Office of the 
Chief Executive 

The strategic plan is the key document for setting the direction of the 
Council as it contains the Council’s vision and high-level priorities.  

No change - retain 

A
genda Item

 4
P

age 43



19/03/10 

 

Plan Required/  
Recommended/ 
Discretionary  

Directorate  Rationale Recommendation  

(including Directorate 
Development Plans) 

Discretionary All It is proposed that 2010/11 Directorate Plans are signed-off individually 
by respective Portfolio Holders and Chief Executive or Director – and 
once completed, are then presented to respective Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees to provide an overview of key activities in the year, to 
inform forward planning. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Older People’s Strategy Discretionary Social Care, 
Health and 
Housing  

This is only one of many key strategies being developed in support of 
this Council priority.  There is merit in consideration being given to, 
similar to the Children and Young People’s Plan, the inclusion of one 
overarching strategic framework document.  This could be the Healthier 
Communities and Older People (HCOP) Strategic Framework currently 
in draft, which will play an important part in setting the direction of the 
Social Care, Health and Housing directorate.   The HCOP Strategic 
Framework will cover the period 2010-2013 and will set out for each of 
the eight delivery partnerships their vision, key issues, priorities and 
high level plans to address these, and also indicates what success will 
look like. 
The eight delivery partnerships cover - health improvement, older 
people, learning disabilities, mental health, physical disability and 
sensory need, carers, strategic housing and long term conditions. 

Remove the Older 
People’s Strategy 
from the Policy 
Framework. 

Cultural Strategy (including the 
Leisure Strategy) 

Discretionary Sustainable 
Communities 

A draft encapsulating the vision for cultural entitlements for all citizens 
of Central Bedfordshire had been prepared and a Cultural Strategy 
Overview and Scrutiny Task Group has been established to focus on 
the understanding of the strategic approach to cultural services and to 
assist in developing a cultural strategy that is fit for purpose and 
provides value for money.  Further development has been temporarily 
put on hold to allow the impacts of the senior management structural 
changes to be fully understood. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   
 

Housing Strategy  Recommended Sustainable 
Communities 

The key principles of delivering housing to meet the needs of our 
communities will be set out in the Sustainable Community Strategy, and 
the inclusion of the Housing Strategy highlights the importance of the 
growth agenda in Central Bedfordshire. 

No change - retain 

A
genda Item

 4
P

age 44



19/03/10 

 

Plan Required/  
Recommended/ 
Discretionary  

Directorate  Rationale Recommendation  

Housing Investment 
Programme 

Recommended Social Care, 
Health and 
Housing 

There has not been a requirement to produce a Housing Investment 
Programme (HIP) for a number of years; however some Councils have 
continued to produce these as their capital programmes for affordable 
housing.   
The Council is required to submit two statistical appendices, one for the 
Housing Strategy covering RSLs, new affordable housing and private 
sector housing; and a Business Plan statistical return which cover the 
Council's own stock. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Sustainability Policy suite 
(including environmental policy, 
climate change strategy and 
sustainability strategy) 

Discretionary Office of the 
Chief Executive 

We are currently finalising the content of the Council’s Climate Change 
Strategy which focuses on cutting the Council’s carbon footprint and 
emissions in the Central Bedfordshire area and preparing for the 
impacts of a changing climate.  This will provide an overview as to how 
this and other strategies address the wider sustainability/ environmental 
agenda.  The Council will not be developing a separate sustainability 
strategy.  

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Customer Service Strategy 
 

Discretionary 
 

Customer and 
Shared Services 

The strategy has been approved by full Council and sets out Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s ambitions for delivering joined up responsive 
solutions for its customers and those of its partners. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Communication Strategy Discretionary Office of the 
Chief Executive 

The Draft Communication Strategy (an operational business document 
rather than a public facing document) is programmed for Executive/full 
Council in April 2010.  

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Consultation Strategy Discretionary Office of the 
Chief Executive 

The key principles of consultation are covered in both the 
Communications Strategy and the Community Engagement Strategy, 
and there are currently no plans to produce a separate Consultation 
Strategy. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Community Engagement 
Strategy 

Discretionary Office of the 
Chief Executive 

The aim of the Community Engagement Strategy is to deliver greater 
added value to our citizens by understanding their needs and issues, 
and giving them a greater involvement in the decision-making process 
and access to public sector services.  There has been ongoing 
involvement in its development through the Task Force and O&S 
process  
 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Local Area Agreement Discretionary Office of the 
Chief Executive 

Central Bedfordshire is the Responsible Authority (as defined under the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007).  The 
current LAA refresh was approved by full Council in February 2010. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

A
genda Item

 4
P

age 45



19/03/10 

 

Plan Required/  
Recommended/ 
Discretionary  

Directorate  Rationale Recommendation  

Regional Spatial Strategies 
including the MKSM sub 
regional strategy (including 
Luton and South Bedfordshire 
growth area strategy 
documents, unless formally 
delegated by the Council to a 
joint committee). 

Discretionary Sustainable 
Communities 

The regional and sub-regional strategies set the growth/housing 
/economic agenda for Central Bedfordshire and should be an Executive 
decision only as the regional and sub-regional are not Central Beds 
own policy documents.   
During the preparation of regional and sub-regional strategies, the 
council has a duty to provide advice to the Regional Planning Body to 
help inform their preparation.  This advice is provided under delegated 
powers by the Assistant Director Planning and Development Strategy.  
Once a draft strategy is formally published, the Executive will formally 
consider the Council’s response to that strategy and any formal 
objections to the strategy can be contested by the Council at Public 
Examination.  Once approved, Central Bedfordshire's implementation of 
policies contained in the approved regional and sub-regional strategies 
will be taken forward through the Council's own Local Development 
Framework (which is required to be included in the Policy Framework) 
and other policy documents such as the Local Transport Plan and 
Housing Strategy (also part of the Policy Framework). 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Equality and Diversity Strategy 
 

Discretionary Office of the 
Chief Executive 

The new Equality Framework requires each authority to agree a 
Scheme setting out how the Council will manage and measure 
equalities and diversity, internally, in the local area and with partners.  
The content of our Scheme has been informed by the respective 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee and will be presented to Executive in 
May 2010.   
These schemes must set out the local inequality issues and the actions 
being taken in respect of these as well as the arrangements in place to 
meet the specific duties, and will be refreshed annually. 

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

Joint Economic Development 
Strategy for Bedfordshire 

Discretionary Sustainable 
Communities 

The Joint Economic Development Strategy for Bedfordshire (JEDS) 
was last refreshed in 2008, but this is not being renewed due to 
different sub regional working practices.   Central Bedfordshire Council 
will be producing a statutory Local Economic Assessment, and have 
requested a delegation from the Leader that a draft can be produced 
with sign off of the Portfolio holder and Director for Sustainable 
Communities, with the final LEA going to Executive for approval.  

Remove from the 
Policy Framework.   

 
 

A
genda Item

 4
P

age 46



19/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1st April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Proposed amendment to public speaking at 
Development Management Committee  5 

REPORT OF Gary Worth AD Development Management   

 

PURPOSE 
To consider allowing speakers 5 minutes rather than 3 minutes as 
currently allowed by the Constitution of Central Bedfordshire (Part 
A4, Annex 3, 3.1 -3.4) 

 

ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL 

Following the Town and Parish event of 4th November 2009, Cllr 
Shadbolt discussed this issue with Peter Brown of Stondon Parish 
Council after Mr Brown had raised the issue during Open Forum 
Questions at the event. Cllr Shadbolt undertook to investigate the 
matter further with a view to bringing forward an item to the 
Constitution Advisory Group. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
  
(1) That the Constitution of Central Bedfordshire Council remains 

unaltered in respect of public speaking at Development Management 
Committee to allow 3 minutes to speakers. 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 47



19/03/10 

 

1. Following the question from Peter Brown at the Central Bedfordshire Council 
Town and Parish event on 4th November 2009, Cllr Trish Turner undertook to 
carry out research of national best practice and to include the findings in the 
report of the Town and Parish event. This work was carried out and the 
findings concluded that Central Bedfordshire Council current arrangements 
were in keeping with national best practice and therefore no changes should 
be proposed. The findings were included with the responses to the open forum 
questions in the Town and Parish Event Post Conference Report (A copy is 
attached, please see page 9).It should be noted that the Chair of the 
Committee has discretion to allow longer for speaking by virtue of Part A4, 
Annex 3, 4.                                                                                                                              

2. A meeting was held on 1st March 2010. In attendance were Cllr Tom Nicols 
PFH Sustainable Development, Cllr Alan Shadbolt  Vice Chair of DMC, Gary 
Worth AD Development Management, Andrew Davie, Head of Development 
Management North and David Hale, Head of Development Management 
South. Cllr Peter Vickers, Chair of DMC was invited but did not attend. The 
issue was discussed at this meeting and it was agreed by all present, given the 
research carried out and the reported findings, that no change to the 
Constitution was required.          
                                                                                                                     

 

 
Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Gary Worth  Town and Parish report …….. 
 

Agenda Item 5
Page 48



Town & Parish 
Council Conference

Agenda Item 5
Page 49



Contents Page

Agenda Item 5
Page 50



Introduction

Agenda Item 5
Page 51



Economic briefing for the public sector

Agenda Item 5
Page 52



The Conference

Agenda Item 5
Page 53



Community Engagement Strategy

Agenda Item 5
Page 54



Sustainable Community Strategy

Agenda Item 5
Page 55



Open Forum

Agenda Item 5
Page 56



Agenda Item 5
Page 57



Agenda Item 5
Page 58



Agenda Item 5
Page 59



Agenda Item 5
Page 60



Agenda Item 5
Page 61



Feedback on the Conference

Agenda Item 5
Page 62



Agenda Item 5
Page 63



Agenda Item 5
Page 64



Conclusion

Agenda Item 5
Page 65



Appendix 1 - 

Agenda Item 5
Page 66



Agenda Item 5
Page 67



Agenda Item 5
Page 68



Agenda Item 5
Page 69



Agenda Item 5
Page 70



Appendix 2 - 

Agenda Item 5
Page 71



Agenda Item 5
Page 72



Agenda Item 5
Page 73



Agenda Item 5
Page 74



Agenda Item 5
Page 75



Agenda Item 5
Page 76



Agenda Item 5
Page 77



Agenda Item 5
Page 78



Agenda Item 5
Page 79



Serving our communities

Central
Bedfordshire
in contact

Find out more…

More 
information

Don’t forget!

Agenda Item 5
Page 80



19/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1 April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Variations to the Constitution 
 6 

REPORT OF Head of Democratic Services   

 

PURPOSE 
To invite the Advisory Group to endorse variations to the Constitution 
to reflect:- 
 

 (a) The revised overview and scrutiny structure approved by the 
Council on 25 February 2010; and 
 

 (b) The revised arrangements for appointing staff at Assistant 
Director level. 
 

 

ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL 

The variations are required as a consequence of decisions of the 
Council. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
(1) That the revisions made to the relevant parts of  the Constitution in 

respect of the amended overview and scrutiny structure and changed 
procedure for officer appointments at Assistant Director level, as set 
out in the attachments to this report, be endorsed. 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 81



19/03/10 

 

(2) That the Council be recommended to approve the variation of the 
Council Procedure Rules to provide for “Leader’s Announcements and 
Communications” to be made at Council meetings. 
 

(3) That the Advisory Group note the latest position regarding amendment 
of the Constitution to reflect the revised organisational structure as a 
consequence of the Senior Management Review as outlined in 
paragraph 7. 
 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
1. At its meeting held on 25 January 2010, the Council agreed to delegate 

authority to the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with this Group, to make the 
necessary consequential amendments to the Constitution to reflect the new 
overview and scrutiny committee structure. 
 

2. The following revised Sections of the Constitution are now enclosed:- 
 

 • Part A1 – paragraph 3 
 

 • Part D1 – Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements and Terms of 
Reference 

 
Officer Employment  
 
3. The Council also approved amendments concerning the appointment of 

officers at Assistant Director level.  Members will recall that it was agreed that 
other than the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer, such appointments 
should be made at officer level.  The Monitoring Officer was authorised to 
amend Parts E2 (8.1.1), F4 (5.1.4), H3 (3.2.1.3) and H4 of the Constitution. 
 

4. The following revised parts are now enclosed:- 
 

 • Part E2 – paragraph 8.1.1 (Terms of Reference of Appointments Sub 
Committee) 

 
 • Part F4 – paragraph 5.1.4 (Protocol on Member/Officer Relations) 

 
 • Part H3 – paragraph 3.2.1.3 

 
 • Part H4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

 

Agenda Item 6
Page 82



19/03/10 

 

Leader’s Announcements 
 
5. Members are advised that whilst the order of business for Council meetings 

(Council Procedure Rules) currently provides for Chairman’s announcements 
and urgent communications to be made at Council meetings, no similar 
provision exists for Leader’s announcements.  We have been requested to 
rectify this anomaly and the Group is therefore asked to endorse the variation 
of the Council Procedure Rules to provide for Leader’s announcements and 
communications. 
 

Senior Management Review 
 
6. The Council also authorised the Monitoring Officer, after consultation with the 

Advisory Group, to amend the Constitution to reflect the amended Directorate 
structure and the allocation of functions within those Directorates once the 
revised structure had been ratified by the Executive. 
 

7. As consultation upon the Senior Management Review remains on-going, it is 
not possible at this stage to bring forward the final amendments required. 
Subject to the Advisory Group’s agreement,  it is proposed that the Monitoring 
Officer, using the delegated authority from the Council referred to above, 
consults members of the Advisory Group via email  upon those further 
changes. 
 

 

 
Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Kathrin John  None 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



 Part A1 / Page 1

A1
  

SUMMARY 
 

 

3. Overview and Scrutiny 
 

 3.1 There are four themed overview and scrutiny committees that support 
the work of the Executive and the Council as a whole.  They submit 
reports and recommendations which advise the Executive and the 
Council as a whole on its policies, budget and service delivery.  
Overview and scrutiny committees also monitor and scrutinise the 
decisions of the Executive, including powers to ‘call-in’ a decision which 
has been made by the Executive but not yet implemented.  This enables 
them to consider whether the decision is appropriate.  They may 
recommend that the Executive reconsider the decision.  They may also 
be consulted by the Executive or the Council on forthcoming decisions 
and the development of policy.    
 

 3.2 The Council’s overview and scrutiny arrangements are described in Part 
D1 of the constitution. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



 Part D1 / Page 1

D1 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

1. Terms of Reference of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

 1.1 The Council will appoint the overview and scrutiny committees shown in 
the table below. These committees will discharge, in respect of the 
matters shown in their terms of reference below, the functions conferred 
by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended by Section 
7 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001; by Section 19 of the Police and 
Justice Act 2006; by Part 5, Chapter 2 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007; and by any subsequent legislation. 

 
Name of Committee Terms of Reference 

 
Customer and Central 
Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

 
 

Policy development and review and scrutiny of issues relating 
to business transformation; communications; customer 
service, corporate complaints and community engagement; 
policy, partnerships and performance including the Local 
Strategic Partnership, Local Area Agreement, Community 
Strategy and corporate planning; corporate services including 
ffinancial services; procurement; human resources and 
organisational development; health and safety; information 
and communication technology; legal and democratic 
services; property and asset management; and any other 
matters that fall within the remit of the Office of the Chief 
Executive or Directorate of Customer and Shared Services.  
  

Children’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 

Policy development and review and scrutiny of children’s, 
families and learning services including children’s specialist 
services; learning and school support; development and 
commissioning; integrated services (Children’s Trust, youth 
support and extended schools);. and any other matters that 
fall within the remit of the Directorate 
 

 

Social Care, Health and 
Housing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Policy development and review and scrutiny of adult social 
care, health and housing services including strategies for 
health, housing, care and inclusion; independent living and 
care management; business systems and market strategy; 
landlord services; prevention and options services including 
homelessness, private sector housing and home 
improvement agency matters; and any other matters that fall 
within the remit of the Directorate. 
 
Policy development and review and scrutiny of health 
services and in particular NHS provision in Central 
Bedfordshire, in pursuance of powers in Section 7 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2001. 
   

Sustainable 
Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  

Policy development and review and scrutiny of sustainable 
communities issues including strategic planning, housing 
strategy, transportation and infrastructure; economic growth, 

Agenda Item 6
Page 87



 Part D1 / Page 2

regeneration and tourism; development control and building 
control; highways and parking; waste and recycling; 
community safety including public protection, trading 
standards, emergency planning and licensing; leisure, culture 
and libraries; and adult and community learning; and any 
other matters that fall within the remit of the Directorate. 
 
To exercise the functions of the crime and disorder committee 
in pursuance of Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 
2006, as amended by Section 126 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  

 
2. General role 

 
 2.1 Within their terms of reference the overview and scrutiny committees, 

which all have equal status, will:- 
 

  2.1.1 Review and scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in  
connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions; 
 

  2.1.2 Make reports and recommendations to the Executive and/or full 
Council and/or any committee in connection with the discharge of 
any functions; 
 

  2.1.3 Consider any matter affecting the area of Central Bedfordshire or 
its inhabitants and make reports and recommendations;   
 

  2.1.4 In accordance with the procedures for call-in, exercise the right to 
call-in for reconsideration decisions falling within their remit which 
have been made but not yet implemented by the Executive or on 
behalf of the Executive; and 
 

  2.1.5 Undertake reviews aiming to improve the efficient and effective 
delivery of services to local people. 
 

3. Specific functions 
 

 3.1 Policy development and review 
 

  Within their terms of reference the overview and scrutiny committees will:- 
 

  3.1.1 Assist the Council and the Executive in the development of its 
budget and policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues 
or proposed projects; 
 

  3.1.2 Conduct research, community and other consultation in the 
analysis of policy issues or proposed projects and possible options; 
 

  3.1.3 Consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance 
community participation in the development of policy or project 
options; 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 88



 Part D1 / Page 3

  3.1.4 Question members of the Executive, committees and senior 
officers of the Council, and representatives of other public, 
business or voluntary/community sector bodies, about their views 
on issues and proposals affecting the area; and 
 

  3.1.5 Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, 
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of 
local people are enhanced by collaborative working. 
 

 3.2 Scrutiny 
 

  Within their terms of reference the overview and scrutiny committees will:- 
 

  3.2.1 Review and scrutinise the decisions made by, and the performance 
of, the Executive, committees, and council officers, both in relation 
to individual decisions and over time; 
 

  3.2.2 Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to 
its policy objectives, performance targets and/or particular service 
areas; 
 

  3.2.3 Question members of the Executive, committees, chief officers and 
senior officers about their decisions and performance, whether 
generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a 
period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or 
projects; 
 

  3.2.4 Make reports and recommendations to the full Council and/or the 
Executive and/or any committee arising from the outcome of the 
scrutiny process; 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 89



Update 1: October 2009 Part D1 / Page 4

    
  3.2.5 Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the 

area, including performance against Local Area Agreement targets, 
in pursuance of the powers outlined in the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, having regard to any 
government regulations and guidance that may be issued.  
 

 
 
 

 3.2.6 Question, call for and gather evidence from any person or 
organisation (with their consent). 

  3.2.7 Review and scrutinise the adequacy of the response of the 
Council, or Executive, or committee to a petition following a request 
for such a review by the lead petitioner (under the provisions of the 
Council’s Petition Scheme at Annex 2 to Part A4 of the 
constitution). 
 

 3.3 Councillor Call for Action 
 

  Within their terms of reference the overview and scrutiny committees will 
also consider Councillor Calls for Action, in accordance with the relevant 
best practice guidance jointly issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny and 
the Improvement & Development Agency . 
 

4. Membership, Substitutes and Quorum 
 

 4.1 The membership and quorum of each of the overview and scrutiny 
committees shall be: 
 

  4.1.1 Customer and Central Services: 9 councillors and substitutes 
(quorum 3); 
 

  4.1.2 Children’s Services: 10 councillors and substitutes, plus 5 co-opted 
members being 3 parent governors and 2 diocesan representatives 
of the Church of England and Roman Catholic churches. 
 
The quorum shall be 4 councillors and 2 co-opted members (either 
parent governors or diocesan representatives) whenever 
considering education matters, and 3 councillors at all other times. 
 
The co-opted members shall have a vote on education matters but 
not on other matters, although they may stay in the meeting and 
speak on any matter. 
 

  4.1.3 Social Care, Health and Housing: 9 councillors and substitutes 
(quorum 3); 
 
Representatives of the Local Involvement Network (LINk) will be 
invited to attend meetings of the committee as observers. 
 

  4.1.4 Sustainable Communities: 9 councillors and substitutes (quorum 
3). 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 90



Update 1: October 2009 Part D1 / Page 5

 4.2 
 

Subject to paragraph 4.3 below, all councillors except members of the 
Executive may be members of an overview and scrutiny committee. 
However no member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
he/she has been directly involved (see also the Members’ Code of 
Conduct in Part F2 of the constitution). 
 

 4.3 Any member who is appointed to assist a portfolio holder in the 
management of their portfolio (known as “assistant portfolio holders”) may 
not be a member of an overview and scrutiny committee if its terms of 
reference cover any portfolio(s) which the assistant portfolio holders 
supports. 
 

 4.4 
 

An overview and scrutiny committee may at any time recommend to 
Council the appointment of non-voting co-optees. The decision to appoint 
will rest with Council. 
 

 4.5 The chairmen and vice-chairmen of the overview and scrutiny committees 
shall be appointed at the annual Council meeting. 
 

5. Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

 5.1 Members of the Social Care, Health and Housing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may be appointed from time to time to serve on any joint 
overview and scrutiny committee that may be established with 
neighbouring authorities to scrutinise health matters under the provisions 
of Sections 7 and 8 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 and 
subsequent regulations. 
  

 5.2 Such appointments will normally be made by the Monitoring Officer, in 
consultation with the Social Care, Health & Housing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chairman and Vice-Chairman, subject to the 
proportionality rules and subsequent report for information to the next 
Council meeting. 
 

 5.3 The member(s) so appointed shall report on the joint committee’s 
proceedings at suitable intervals to the Social Care, Health and Housing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

6. Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordination Panel 
 

 6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordination Panel will comprise the 
chairman and vice-chairman of each of the overview and scrutiny 
committees. It is not a formal committee and will not exercise any of the 
functions described in paragraphs 2 and 3 above, but will: 
  

Agenda Item 6
Page 91



 Part D1 / Page 6

   
  6.1.1 Coordinate the work of the five overview and scrutiny committees, 

particularly where topics for scrutiny or review cut across the terms 
of reference of two or more committees, including health matters 
that affect adults and children; 
 

  6.1.2 Report annually to full Council on the workings of the overview and 
scrutiny function and make recommendations for future work 
programmes and amended working methods if appropriate;  
 

 
 
 
 

 6.1.3 Exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of the 
officers who are employed to support the work of the overview and 
scrutiny function. 
 

7. Task Forces and Other Informal Working 
 

 7.1 An overview and scrutiny committee may at any time appoint a task force 
(either a standing task force or a time-limited task and finish group) to 
conduct an in depth investigation into any matter within its terms of 
reference.  It may also appoint members at any time to a joint task force 
with other committees of the council, other local authorities or other public 
bodies. 
 

 7.2 Task forces need not be proportionate and their membership shall be 
appointed from any non-executive councillors who express a general 
interest in the matter to be reviewed. 
 

 7.3 As task forces operate on an informal basis and are not formal 
committees, they will have no powers other than to investigate and report 
on their findings to the parent committee. 
 

 7.4 An overview and scrutiny committee may appoint any of its members to 
work informally with other bodies or authorities, particularly in relation to 
external or cross-authority scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to 
the committee’s functions.   
 

8. Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

 8.1 Overview and scrutiny committees will conduct their proceedings in 
accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out n 
Part D2. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 92



 Part E2 / Page 1

E2 COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

   
8. The Appointments Sub-Committee 

 
 Appointed by: 

 
The General Purposes 
Committee under Section 
101 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 
 

 No of Members: 3 - 5 Councillors appointed 
by the Monitoring Officer 
as and when necessary, 
(from a panel of Members 
appointed by the General 
Purposes Committee for 
this purpose) including at 
least one member of the 
Executive  
 

 Chairman and Vice-Chairman appointed 
by: 
 

The  Sub-Committee at 
each meeting. 

 Quorum 
 

3 

 Frequency 
 

As and when required 

 Venue 
 

To be determined by the 
Monitoring Officer 
 

 Co-opted members  None 
   
 8.1 Terms of Reference 

 
  8.1.1 To appoint or recommend the appointment of officers 

to whom the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
apply, including the Head of Paid Service, Directors, 
the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 
 

  8.1.2 To recommend the dismissal of the Head of Paid 
Service as provided in the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules in Part H4 of the Constitution. 
 

 8.2 Limitations of Power 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 93



 Part E2 / Page 2

  The Committee has full delegated power, other than the 
appointment and dismissal of the Head of Paid Service and as 
otherwise provided in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
in Part H4 of the constitution. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 94



 Part F4 / Page 1 

F4 PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS 
 

 
 
5. The Management of Officers 

 
 5.1 Although officers will support, advise and respond to members’ 

requests, the law is clear that only other officers can manage 
officers.  This means that:- 
 

   
  5.1.1 Day to day management of officers is the responsibility of 

managers and ultimately the Chief Executive. 
 

  5.1.2 Officers will comply with all reasonable requests from 
members but individual members cannot instruct officers 
to do any piece of work or take any course of action. 
 

  5.1.3 Officers will not seek any member’s support in any 
employment or other dispute or a Council appointment or 
promotion except in so far as is provided at paragraph 1.2 
of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules at Part H4 of 
the constitution. 
 

  5.1.4 Members are responsible for the recruitment of the Chief 
Executive, Directors, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer.  
 

  5.1.5 Officers are responsible for recruitment of all other 
officers. 
 

  5.1.6 Members’ role in any formal action against an officer or 
grievance involving an officer is limited to reporting an 
officer’s actions to their manager and/or as a witness 
(except where the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
at Part H4 of the constitution provide otherwise). 
 

  5.1.7 When representing the Council at meetings about 
industrial relations matters, members must remember that 
they represent the Council as an employer and are not 
there to represent the officers.  This applies in particular 
to meetings with trade union representatives.  If a 
member considers that they cannot undertake this task 
from this perspective, they should withdraw from this role. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



Update 1: October 2009 Part H3 / Page 1

   
H3
  

SCHEME OF DELEGATION BY THE COUNCIL AND BY THE EXECUTIVE 
TO DIRECTORS AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 

 
 
 

3.2 Staffing Issues 
 

  3.2.1 Subject to the Officer Employment Procedure Rules at Part H4 and 
staffing policies and terms and conditions adopted by the Council:- 
 

   3.2.1.1 
 

To carry out all employment functions and to deal with 
any staffing establishment issue in relation to staff 
employed in the delivery of services for which he/she is 
responsible, including any temporary or agency staff who 
may from time to time be employed; 
 

   3.2.1.2 To be responsible for the performance of those 
employees carrying out the functions for which he/she is 
responsible; 
 

   3.2.1.3 To appoint employees below the status of Director, with 
the exception of the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer; 
 

   3.2.1.4 To dismiss employees.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank



 Part H4 / Page 1

H4 OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 
 

1. Recruitment and Appointment 
 

 1.1 Declarations 
 

  1.1.1 The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 
appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the 
parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, 
grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an 
existing councillor or officer of the Council; or of the partner of 
such persons. 
 

  1.1.2 No candidate so related to a councillor or an officer will be 
appointed without the authority of the relevant Director or an 
officer nominated by him/her. 
 

 1.2 Seeking support for appointment 
 

  1.2.1 Subject to paragraph 1.2.3, the Council will disqualify any 
applicant who directly or indirectly canvasses the support of any 
councillor or officer for any appointment with the Council.  The 
content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment 
information. 
 

  1.2.2 Subject to paragraph 1.2.3, no councillor or officer will canvass 
support for any person for any appointment with the Council. 
 

  1.2.3 Nothing in paragraphs 1.2.1 and 1.2.2 above will preclude a 
councillor or officer from giving a written reference for a 
candidate for submission with an application for appointment 
except where the councillor or officer is a member of the 
appointment panel in that case. 
 

2. Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Directors 
 

 2.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint the Head of Paid Service or a 
Director and it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively 
from among their existing officers, the Appointments Sub-Committee will: 
 

  2.1.1 Draw up a statement specifying:- 
 

   2.1.1.1 the duties of the officer concerned; and 
 

   2.1.1.2 any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person 
to be appointed. 
 

  2.1.2 Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way 
as is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified 
to apply for it; 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 99



 Part H4 / Page 2

  2.1.3 Make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 
paragraph 2.1.1 to be sent to any person on request; 
 

  2.1.4 Either interview all qualified applicants for the post, or select a 
short list of such qualified applicants and interview those on the 
short list; and 
 

  2.1.5 Where no qualified person has applied, make further 
arrangements for advertisement in accordance with paragraph 
2.1.2 above. 
 

3. Appointment or Dismissal of Head of Paid Service, Directors, Chief Finance 
Officer and Monitoring Officer 
 

 3.1 Appointments 
 

  3.1.1 Only the full Council shall approve (or otherwise) the appointment 
of the Head of Paid Service following the recommendation of 
such an appointment by the Appointments Sub-Committee.  The 
Appointments Sub-Committee must include at least one member 
of the Executive.  
 

  3.1.2 The Appointments Sub-Committee will appoint Directors and the 
Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer as designated in Part 
H1 of the Constitution.   
 

  3.1.3 Before the Sub-Committee makes an offer of an appointment, the 
Monitoring Officer shall notify every member of the Executive of:- 
 

   3.1.3.1 the name of the proposed appointee;  
 

   3.1.3.2 the particulars relevant to the appointment; and 
 

   3.1.3.3 the period within which objections to the appointment 
can be made. 
 

  3.1.4 The Sub-Committee may make an offer provided that:- 
 

   3.1.4.1 the Leader on behalf of the Executive within the period 
raises no objection, or indicates that the Executive has 
no objection; or 
 

   3.1.4.2 the Sub-Committee decides that any objection received 
from the Leader within the period is not material or is 
not well founded. 
 

Agenda Item 6
Page 100



 Part H4 / Page 3

 

 3.2 Dismissals 
 

  3.2.1 The full Council shall approve (or otherwise) the dismissal of the 
Head of Paid Service following the recommendation of such 
dismissal by the Appointments Sub-Committee and subject to 
compliance with the provisions of paragraph 5. 
 

  3.2.2 The responsibility for dismissal of Directors and Assistant 
Directors rests with the Head of the Paid Service or his/her 
nominee. 
 

  3.2.3 Before full Council (in the case of the Head of Paid Service) or the 
Head of the Paid Service or his/her nominee (in the case of 
Directors) determines to issue a notice of dismissal, the 
Monitoring Officer shall notify every member of the Executive of:- 
 

   3.2.3.1 the name of the person proposed to be dismissed; 
 

   3.2.3.2 any other particulars relevant to the proposed 
dismissal; and 
 

   3.2.3.3 the period within which objections to the dismissal can 
be made. 
 

  3.2.4 The Sub-Committee or the Head of Paid Service or his/her 
nominee may determine to issue a notice of dismissal, provided 
that: 
 

   3.2.4.1 the Leader on behalf of the Executive within the period 
indicates that the Executive has no objections, or raises 
no objection; or 
 

   3.2.4.2 the Sub-Committee or the Head of Paid Service or 
his/her nominee as appropriate decides that any 
objection received from the Leader within the period is 
not material or is not well founded. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Agenda Item 6
Page 101



 Part H4 / Page 4

4. Other Appointments/Dismissals 
 

 4.1 Officers below Director.  Appointment of officers below Director level 
(other than the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer and assistants 
to political groups) is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or 
his/her nominee (and may not be made by Councillors) subject to 
compliance with the provisions of paragraph 3.1.3 and 3.1.4 in the case of 
Assistant Directors. 
 
Dismissal of officers below Director level is the responsibility of the Head of 
Paid Service, subject to compliance with paragraph 5 in respect of the 
Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer and with the provisions of 
paragraphs 3.2.3 and 3.2.4 in respect of Assistant Directors. 
 

 4.2 Assistants to political groups.   
  

 a. No appointments shall be made for the purposes of providing 
assistance to members of political groups to which members of 
Central Bedfordshire Council may belong under section 9 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, unless the Council has 
allocated a post to each of the groups which qualify for one, subject 
to a maximum of three such posts being available at any one time. 
 

 b. The allocation of such a post to a political group which does not 
qualify for one is prohibited. 
 

 c. The allocation of more than one such post to any one political group 
is prohibited. 
 

 d. Any appointments of an assistant to a political group shall be made 
in accordance with the wishes of that political group. 
 

5. Disciplinary Action 
 

 5.1 Suspension.  The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation takes places into 
alleged misconduct.  That suspension will be on full pay and last no longer 
than two months. 
 

 5.2 Independent person.  No other disciplinary action may be taken in 
respect of any of those officers except in accordance with a 
recommendation in a report made by a designated independent person. 
 

 5.3 Councillors will not be involved in any disciplinary action (including 
dismissal) against any officer below Assistant Director except where such 
involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged 
misconduct, though the Council’s disciplinary, capability and related 
procedures, as adopted from time to time may allow a right of appeal to 
members in respect of disciplinary action. 
 

 

Agenda Item 6
Page 102



19/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1 April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Variations to the Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers 
 

 7 

REPORT OF Head of Democratic Services   

 

PURPOSE To advise the Group of changes approved by the Leader of the 
Council to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers. 

 
ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL Leader of Council/Director of Sustainable Communities 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
To note the revision to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers now submitted. 
 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
1. As  the Advisory Group is aware, the Leader of the Council has authority under 

Paragraph 3 of the Executive Procedure Rules to delegate Executive functions 
or amend existing delegations. 
 

2. The following new delegations have been approved by the Leader. 
 

 Function Qualifications (if any) 
 

Agenda Item 7
Page 103



19/03/10 

 

 To incur expenditure within the 
agreed budget and approve the 
annual business plans recommended 
by the boards of Luton Gateway and 
Renaissance Bedford as the local 
delivery vehicles supporting the 
growth agenda. 
 

After consultation with the relevant 
portfolio holder 

 To prepare a draft Local Economic 
Assessment for the purposes of 
consultation 
 

After consultation with the relevant 
portfolio holder 

3. The Advisory Group is requested to note the variation to the Scheme of 
Delegation. 
 

 

 
Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Kathrin John  None 
 

Agenda Item 7
Page 104



19/03/10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Central 
Bedfordshire 
Council 
Priory House 
Monks Walk 
Chicksands,  
Shefford SG17 5TQ 

 

  

 
 
CONSTITUTION ADVISORY GROUP 

 
DATE:  1 April 2010 
 
 

 ITEM NO. TITLE Work Programme 
 9 

REPORT OF Head of Democratic Services   

 

PURPOSE To consider the future work programme for the Group 

 
ORIGIN OF 
PROPOSAL CAG minute 31, meeting held on 9 November 2009 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

 
That the Advisory Group review the draft work programme at Appendix A. 
 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
1. The draft work programme for the Group is set out at Appendix A for 

consideration. 
 

Agenda Item 9
Page 105



19/03/10 

 

2. Members will recall that the future of Town Centre Management Committees 
was previously identified as a potential item for consideration by this Group.  
This matter was originally due to be reviewed by the Executive in November 
2009 and any consequential Constitutional changes required were to be 
reported to this Group.  Consideration of the proposals was however deferred 
at the Executive.  It has now been advised that the current arrangements for 
Town Centre Management Committees are unlikely to be changed at the 
current time unless reviewed as part of the wider community engagement 
proposals under consideration.  This item has not therefore been included on 
the work programme. 
 

3. The Advisory Group is invited to review the work programme and amend as 
appropriate. 

 

 
Contact Officer Details:  Key Background Papers: 

Kathrin John  Notes of previous meetings. 
 

Agenda Item 9
Page 106



         Appendix A 
 

Constitution Advisory Group 
 

Work Programme 
 

Date Task 
 

April • Review of Policy Framework 
• Consequential changes to 

Constitution arising from:- 
o New overview & scrutiny 

structure; 
o New officer appointment 

procedure 
• Public participation for Local 

Council representatives at 
Development Management 
meetings 

• Guidance for the management of 
events and media relations 

 
May/June • Petitions procedure (dependant 

upon production of final statutory 
guidance) 

 
July • Review of the schemes of 

delegation to officers of unitary 
councils within the CIPFA 
comparator group 

• Review of non-statutory non-
executive committees and their 
roles 

• Display of Constitution on the 
website – progress review and 
update 

 
October  

 
December  

 
January/February  

 
March  
 
In addition at each meeting, all changes to Executive delegations approved by 
the Leader of the Council will be reported for information. 

Agenda Item 9
Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Guidance for the managements of events and media relations.
	091005 guidance on event and media management

	2 Notes of the last Meeting
	3 Outside Bodies
	100401 item 3 Outside Bodies 1 Appendix A v2160310
	100401 item 3 outside bodies Appendix 1
	100401 item 3 outside bodies Appendix 2

	4 Review of Policy Framework
	5 Proposed Amendment to Public Speaking at Development Management Committee
	100401 item 5 App 1 TPC Post Conference Report v1 0

	6 Variations to the Constitution
	Part A1 - Summary
	Part D1 - Part D1 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements and Terms of Reference as Amended
	Part E2 - Committee Terms of Reference
	Part F4 - Protocol for Member-Officer Relations
	Part H3 - Scheme of Delegation to Directors and other Officers (2)
	ITEM 6 Part H4 - Officer Employment Procedure Rules (3) for tabling

	7 Variations to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers
	9 Work Programme
	workplanappendix


